
 

CITY OF ALBION PLANNING COMMISSION 
                        REGULAR MEETING 

TUESDAY, MARCH 21, 2017 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

7:00 P.M. 

AGENDA 
 
I. Call To Order (Reminder: turn off cell phones) 
 
II. Roll Call of the Commission 
 
III. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes –  
 A.  February 22, 2017    
 B.  March 14, 2017 Joint Study Session W/Council 
 
IV. Correspondence 
 
V.  Public Hearing: 
 A. Albion Community Garden Application 
 B. 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Plan 
 

  VI. Order of Business 
       A. Approve Application for Community Garden located at 1021 Jefferson 

          St. /1019 Jefferson St. 1017 Jefferson St. /1013 Jefferson St. /1011  
          Jefferson St. /1009 Jefferson St. /Mallory St/Jefferson/1013.5   
          Jefferson St and 751 W. Broadwell St. 

B. Discussion/Approve 2017-2022 Capital Improvement Plan 
C. Review Comprehensive Plan 
D. Excuse Absent Commissioners 

 
VII. Public Comments (Persons addressing the Planning Commission shall limit  

their comments to no more than three (3) minutes.  Proper decorum is required.) 
 
VIII.  Adjournment 
 PLANNING COMMISSION PUBLIC HEARING PROCESS 

 
1) The Planning Commission Chair opens the hearing 
2) Chair summarized the process 
3) Staff presents report on applicant’s request 
4) Chair reads any correspondence into the record 
5) Public speaking portion of hearing 

• Individuals in support 
• Opposition speakers 
• Questions & rebuttal (directed through the Chair) 
• Public speaking portion of hearing closed 

6) Finding of facts 
7) Board begins deliberations 
8) Motion is made 
9) Roll call vote taken 

 

 



Page 1 of 6                       jdomingo/planning commission minutes 02-22-17 
 

Planning Commission 
February 22, 2017 

 
 
I. Call To Order 
 

The February 22, 2017 Planning Commission meeting was called to order at 7:00 
p.m. by Chairperson Strander and a quorum declared.  Chair Strander welcomed 
new Commissioners Beckie Decker, Sharon Ponds and Lenn Reid. 
 

II. Roll Call of the Commission 
 
 PRESENT: G. Brown (arrived at 7:15p.m.), B Decker, S Kipp, T Pitt, S Ponds,  
 L Reid, G Strand, G Strander. 
 
 ABSENT: S Brown 

 
Staff Present:  S Mitchell, City Manager, J Domingo, City Clerk and J Tracy, 
Director Building, Planning & Code Enforcement 
 
 

III. Approval of Prior Meeting Minutes-January 18, 2017 
 

Pitt moved, Strand supported, CARRIED, to approve the January 18, 2017 
Planning Commission minutes as presented. (Voice Vote) 

IV. Correspondence-None  

V. Public Hearing-Community Gardens Applications 

Chair Strander opened the Public Hearing at 7:02 p.m. 

John Tracy, Director of Building, Planning & Code Enforcement gave the 
following report on the Community Garden applications: 

 The community garden ordinance allows for the following: 
 Sheds for storage 
 Hoop houses 
 Picnic tables 
 Requirements for trash receptacles 
 Allows for on-site water tanks or trailered water 
 No sale of food products grown 
 Allows for food or flowers 

 Application has been signed by property owner giving permission 
 Application has been signed by individual and/or representative of the 

Group or organization that will be responsible for community garden 



Page 2 of 6                       jdomingo/planning commission minutes 02-22-17 
 

 A sketch location of all existing and proposed structure has been provided. 
 The proposed layout of garden plots, fencing, etc. sketch was attached 

however, the temporary fence material type and height was not 
indicated. 

 The parking was identified for available areas on or near property. 
 A sketch location of all existing and proposed structured was attached, 

however, the square footage of shed was not indicated. 
 The watersource indicated was city water with rates and charges to apply. 

 
City Manager Mitchell indicated the City cannot give away free water but 
she is willing to work with applicants to provide a flat rate service.  A 
permit will be required for the water hook-up. 
 
Mary Moore, Treasurer Community Gardens, stated several organizations 
are involved in this project and they would like to use as much space as 
they can for plants.  Zoning ordinance 31-48 says the setback is 5’ unless 
surrounded by vacant lots which in this case the properties are 
surrounded by vacant lots.  She stated they would be willing to provide 
any additional information the Planning Commission needed.  She stated 
they planned to use temporary 4’ snow fencing and plan to have an 8’x10’ 
shed. 
 
John Tracy, Director Building, Code Enforcement & Planning stated that 
Ordinance #2011-01states the setback shall be 5’.  This would not apply if 
there are no other properties on the block. 
 
Tim Krause, Executive Director Albion Community Foundation stated he 
supports the community gardens and also has provided seed money for 
the project.  These gardens are typically located in areas where there is a 
need for food and need something on them.   
 
The temporary fence material type and height and square footage of 
storage shed was not indicated for the application for 213 S. Albion and 
618 N. Erie Street. 
 
Chair Strander closed the Public Hearing at 7:25 p.m. 

 
VI.       Order of Business 
 

A. Election of Officers (Chair, Vice Chair) 
 

G Brown moved, T Pitt supported, CARRIED, to Nominate G Strander as 
Planning Commission Chair. (Voice Vote) 
 
G Brown moved, S Kipp supported, CARRIED, to Nominate T Pitt as 
Planning Commission Vice Chair. (Voice Vote) 



Page 3 of 6                       jdomingo/planning commission minutes 02-22-17 
 

 
B. Approve Application for Community Garden located at 401 and 403 W. 
    Center Street 
 

Comments were received from Commissioner G Strand who asked if the 
Planning Commission were interrupting the 5’ setback and would have no 
issue with approving if it would not cause a problem.   

 
Commissioner L Reid stated the community gardens are a great idea and it 
also helps with mowing of vacant lots. 
 
John Tracy, Director of Building, Planning & Code Enforcement stated some 
areas of the ordinance will need tweaking as we move along with the 
community gardens.  The ordinance was written in 2011 and some changes 
will be to be made such as the setback for the garden itself. 
 
City Manager Mitchell asked the Planning Commission to add the following 
provisions to the community garden application approval: 

1. Subject to all current codes unless opinion provided by City Attorney or 
a change in codes 

2. Contingent upon agreement of flat water rate service 
3. Add City of Albion as additional insured on property’s insurance 

 
S Kipp moved, G Strand supported, to Approve Community Garden 
application located at 401 and 403 W. Center Street with the following 
additions: 

1. Subject to all current codes unless opinion by City Attorney or change 
in codes 

2. Contingent upon agreement of flat water rate service 
3. Add City of Albion as additional insured on property’s insurance policy 
 

CARRIED.  (Voice Vote) 
 
C. Approve Application for Community Garden located at 213 S. Albion St. and 

618 W. Erie Street 
 

G Brown moved, L Reid supported, to Approve Community Garden 
application located at 213 S. Albion Street and 618 W. Erie Street with the 
following additions: 

1. Subject to all current codes unless opinion by City Attorney or change 
in codes 

2. Contingent upon agreement of flat water rate service 
3. Add City of Albion as additional insured on property’s insurance policy 
 

CARRIED.  (Voice Vote) 
 



Page 4 of 6                       jdomingo/planning commission minutes 02-22-17 
 

Comments were received from Mary Moore who stated she was unsure the 
City would be able to be added to the insurance policy due to no insurable 
interest in the property. 
 
City Manager Mitchell stated the water infrastructure should apply as 
insurable interest in the property. 
 
Chair G Strander asked Mary Moore to check with the insurance company 
and email him and let him know. 

 
 
D. Update on Redevelopment Ready Community 
 

Danielle Nelson, Special Projects Manager provided the following update on 
the Redevelopment Ready Community: 
 
Quarterly Progress Report: 
 
 Comprehensive Plan Phase I-Complete 
 To complete this task, need Phase II-Zoning Plan and future land 

use maps 
 Added DDA Downtown Plan to website 
 Budgeted for council training 
 Next RRC Tasks 
 Zoning Plan and future land use maps-John Tracy, Caitlyn 

Berard, Amy Deprez 
 Capital Improvements Plan (CIP)-Sheryl Mitchell, Stacey Levin, 

Danielle Nelson, EDC, City Dept. Heads, One Planning 
Commission Member, one-two City Council Members 

 Community Engagement Statement-Danielle Nelson 
 Tracking method/feedback mechanism/community input for 

developments-John Tracy, Amy Deprez 
 Guide to Development-John Tracy, Amy Deprez, Caitlyn Berard, 

Danielle Nelson 
Other Plans: 
Charrette 

 Community design charrette-like an “open house” to display 
projects/plans and gather community input 

 2nd week of May-Michigan/Albion week 
 Location-Ludington Center, Albion District Library and potentially 

others 
 Time 4:00-7:00 p.m. 
 Topics: 

 Dalrymple, Union Steel, Harvard site, other Land Bank sites 
(partner with Land Bank) 



Page 5 of 6                       jdomingo/planning commission minutes 02-22-17 
 

 Eaton Street Corridor-streetscaping, new/future businesses, 
homes, etc. 

 Austin Avenue Corridor-streetscaping, new/future 
businesses, homes, etc. 

 Bike Routes 
 Downtown Plan 
 Comprehensive Plan 
 RRC 
 Albion College Development/Plans 
 Neighborhood Planning Councils 
 Neighborhood Beautification 
 Community Gardens (partner with Albion Community 

Gardens Group) 
 ARC 

Albion Food Hub 
 Economic Development  
 Workforce Development/Michigan Works 
 Others….. 

 
 

 
E. Review Comprehensive Plan 
 

City Manager Mitchell stated the current focus has been on the 
Redevelopment Ready Community Project.  The City is applying for an I.C.E. 
grant which requires a capital improvement plan that is currently being 
worked on.  The grant will provide funding from $500,000 up to $2 million 
dollars with a 10% match. 
 
The project to be submitted with be Irwin Avenue Reconstruction which will 
provide complete street reconstruction along with water infrastructure. The 
grant is due April 7, 2017 and will require Planning Commission and Albion 
City Council approval.  She would like to create a work group and asked for 
volunteers from the Planning Commission.  T Pitt, G Strand and G Strander 
all volunteered to be a part of the work group.  There will be a joint meeting of 
the Planning Commission and Albion City Council at 6:30 on March 14, 2017. 

 
F. Excuse Absent Commissioners 

 
T Pitt moved, S Kipp supported, CARRIED, to excuse Commissioner 
S Brown. (Voice Vote) 
 

VII. Citizen Comments  
 

John Geyer, 1010 S. Eaton St spoke on behalf of local landlords in Albion and 
stated there is a problem with the rental certification as a part of the RRC plan.  



Page 6 of 6                       jdomingo/planning commission minutes 02-22-17 
 

He stated the landlords would like to have some input before the certification is 
approved. 

 
Chair G Strander stated this is not part of the approval of the Planning 
Commission but instead would be approved through the Albion City Council. 

 
Additional comments were received from Commissioners G Strand and T Pitt; 
Danielle Nelson, Special Projects Manager; John Tracy, Director Building, 
Planning & Code Enforcement. 

 
City Manager Mitchell introduced Caitlyn Berard who is interning with John Tracy 
on the new GIS project and also working with Danielle Nelson on the 
Redevelopment Ready Community. 
 

VIII. Adjournment 
 
T Pitt moved, G Brown supported, CARRIED, to adjourn the meeting. 
Meeting adjourned at 8:00 p.m. 

 
 
 

Recorded By:  Jill Domingo, City Clerk 



Page 1 of 6                       jdomingo/joint study session planning/council minutes 3-14-17 
 

Joint Study Session 
Planning Commission & Albion City Council 

March 14, 2017 
6:30 p.m. 

 
 
I. Call To Order 
 

Due to a lack of quorum, the March 14, 2017 Planning Commission meeting 
proceeded as a joint study session with the Albion City Council. 
 

II. Roll Call of the Commission 
 

PRESENT: G. Brown (arrived at 7:00p.m.), B Decker (arrived at 6:50 pm), S 
Kipp, T Pitt, L Reid (arrived at 6:50 pm), G Strand, G Strander. 

 
 ABSENT: S Brown and S. Ponds 

 
Staff Present: Sheryl Mitchell, City Manager; Lauren Elster, City Attorney 
Associate; Stacey Levin, Assistant City Manager; Jill Domingo, City Clerk; Jim 
Lenardson, Director Public Services; Scott Kipp, Chief Public Safety; Harry 
Longon, Deputy Director Public Services and Danielle Nelson, Special Projects 
Manager. 
 

III. Public Comments (Persons addressing the Planning Commission shall limit their 
comments to no more than three (3) minutes. (Proper decorum is required). 

 
 No comments were received. 

IV. Order of Business: 

 A. Capital Improvement Plan 

Danielle Nelson, Special Projects Manager updated the Council and Planning 
Commission on the Capital Improvement Plan with the following: 

• The Capital Improvement Plan (C.I.P.) is a six (6) year plan designed to 
evaluate infrastructure projects 

• The draft plan is listed by project start date 
• The C.I.P. will include a one (1) page summary of each project 
• The goals have been spread out over the six (6) year plan 
• The goal for the meeting is to create a draft C.I.P. that will go to Planning 

Commission and Council for approval 
• The project scoring and prioritization was completed by the Committee 

on Thursday, March 9th and Sunday, March 11th, 2017 
• The committee consisted of representatives from the Council, Planning 

Commission, City Manager and Department Heads 



Page 2 of 6                       jdomingo/joint study session planning/council minutes 3-14-17 
 

• The scoring process was taken from the MEDC. 
• The C.I.P. will be revisited each year to make changes.  This is a 

“working document”. 
• The C.I.P. is a project specific method. 

 
• The draft C.I.P. is listed below: 
 

Start 
Year Project # Project Title 

Score 
(out of 
160)  Total Cost   Cost to City  Funding Sources Avail. 

2017 S-014 Water Main Replacement 145 
 
$5,316,725.00    

Bond Issue 
State Drinking Water Rev   
Fund Balance 
USDA-RD Loan/Grant (ap  
underway) 

2017 S-025 
Street 
Restoration/Replacement 134 

 $   
209,000.00    

Act 51 Funds 
Local Millage Fund 

2017 S-001 Hot Patcher 80 
 $     
80,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD 
local loan 
equipment pool fund bala  
Operating Revenues 

2018 S-011 
Waste Water Influent 
Screen 147 

 $   
800,000.00  

 $   
800,000.00  

USDA-RD 
local loan 
Issue bond 
Operating Revenues 

2018 S-023 
Digester Building & 
Equipment Rehab 141 

 
$1,800,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD 
Bond 
Operating Revenues 

2018 S-026 
Irwin Ave. Construction 
Project 138 

 
$2,230,000.00  

 $223,000.00  
with ICE 
Grant  

ICE Grant 
Category F 
Local Street Millage 

2018 S-003 
Replace/Restore N. 
Albion St. Bridge 137  TBD   TBD  TBD 

2018 S-016 Roof Replacement 133 
 $   
120,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD Grant/Loan 
Operating Revenues 
Issue Bond 

2018 S-012 
Roof Replacement at 
Water Treatment Facility 122 

 $     
30,000.00  

 $     
30,000.00  Water Fund Balance 

2018 S-013 
Street Dept. Roof 
Replacement 100  TBD   TBD  TBD 



Page 3 of 6                       jdomingo/joint study session planning/council minutes 3-14-17 
 

2018 S-005 Vactor Truck Purchase 89 
 $   
350,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD 
local loan 
equipment pool fund bala  
Operating Revenues 

2018 S-020 City Hall Rehab 89 
 
$1,900,000.00    TBD 

2018 S-008 
Repair Seawall along 
Kalamazoo River 88  TBD   TBD  TBD 

2018 S-022 
Replace Roof - Cemetery 
Office 88 

 $     
20,000.00    

Cemetery Trust Fund 
Fund Balance 

2018 S-002 Front-end Loader 82 
 $   
250,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD 
local loan 
equipment pool fund bala  
Operating Revenues 

2018 S-010 Street Sweeper 69 
 $   
275,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD  
Local loan 
Equipment pool fund bala  

2018 S-018 
Purchase Asphalt Repair 
Truck 56 

 $   
147,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD Grant/Loan 
Local Loan 
Equipment Pool Fund 
Fund Balance 
Operating Revenues 

2018 P-003 K-9 Police Cars 53 
 $     
80,000.00  

 $     
80,000.00  Operating Revenues 

2019 S-027 Secondary Clarifier 135 
 $   
800,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD 
Bonding 
Operating Revenues 

2019 S-029 Gravity Thickener 135 
 $   
340,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD 
State Revolving Fund 
Operating Revenues 
Bond Issue 

2019 S-024 
Filter Building and 
Equipment Repairs 133 

 $   
640,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD 
operating revenues 
issue bond 

2019 S-009 
WWTP Secondary 
Building Rehab 113 

 
$1,550,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD Grant/Loan 
Operating Revenues 
Fund Balance 



Page 4 of 6                       jdomingo/joint study session planning/council minutes 3-14-17 
 

2019 S-015 
Skating Pavilion - Victory 
Park 92  TBD   TBD  TBD 

2019 S-007 Replace Dump Truck 80 
 $   
250,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD 
Local loan 
Fund Balance 

2019 S-017 Backhoe Replacement 80 
 $   
250,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD Grant/Loan 
Local Loan 
Equipment Pool Fund 
Fund Balance 
Operating Revenues 

2019 P-001 Motorola AX8000 Radios 72 
 $   
160,000.00  

 $      
8,000.00  

Assistance to Fire Fighter   
Operating Revenues 

2019 R-001 
Albion River Trail 
Expansion II 65 

 $   
340,000.00  

 Less than 
$85,000  

DNR Trust Fund (applying  
Battle Creek Community  
(secured) 
Enbridge (applying) 
Firekeepers (applying)  
Major Streets Fund - Act 5   

2020 S-028 Sludge Holding Tanks 135 
 $   
160,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD 
State Revolving Fund  
Bond Issue 
Operating Revenues 
Fund Balance 

2020 S-021 
Ferric Feed System 
Replacement 124 

 $   
270,000.00  

 45% with 
USDA-RD 

Grant  

USDA-RD 
State Revolving Fund  
Bond Issue 

2020 S-006 
Medium Priority Roof 
Replacement - WWTP 122 

 $   
200,000.00  

 $   
200,000.00  

Bond Issue 
Fund Balance 

2020 P-004 SCBA Pack Replacement 106 
 $     
90,000.00  

 $      
4,500.00  

Assistance to Fire Fighter   
Operating Revenues 

2020 S-004 
Rieger Park Skating 
Shelter 74  TBD   TBD  TBD 

2020 S-019 
Purchase Used Bucket 
Truck 38 

 $     
40,000.00   TBD  TBD 

2021 P-002 Fire Engine 92 
 $   
500,000.00  

 $     
25,000.00  

Grant General Fund 
Assistance to Fire Fighter   
Capital Project Fund 

2022             
 

 
 

Comments/Questions from the Council and Planning Commission were: 



Page 5 of 6                       jdomingo/joint study session planning/council minutes 3-14-17 
 

• Can Albion Street be added to the restore North Albion Street bridge 
project 

• The Holland Park committee is currently working with Senator Nofs office 
on the canoe/kayak dock and may be able to receive additional help with 
funding for N. Albion street repair. 

• Would like to see restore North Albion Street bridge as a higher priority. 
• Are street projects treated separately and if not, would like to see added 

to the list 
• All street projects have not been identified at this time 
• Is there a max number of grant dollars the City can apply for in a year 
• The City receives $290,000 each year for street restorations 
• The water main replacement and hot patcher for 2017 are separate 

USDA grant applications 
• We need to pursue items in the year we are applying for the grants 
• Has funding been secured for the 2017 and 2018 projects listed 
• Projects must been identified before grant funding can be secured 
• One of the main components of the C.I.P. is to allow the City to apply for 

an I.C.E. grant which is $2.23 million dollars with a 10% city match.  This 
would be used for water/sewer; some curb/gutter and a total street 
reconstruction of Irwin Avenue 

• Many of the wastewater projects were engineering suggestions from the 
S.A.W. grant 

• The grant application for the water tower/water main s currently 
underway. Funds may not be received until 2018 

• The C.I.P. draft was based on the MEDC model and infrastructure did 
receive higher scores 

• The state’s new taxing program will increase the amount of funds the City 
receives with a $2 million dollar increase over the next six (6) years 

• The water infrastructure needs to be completed in specific stages 
• Albion College will be repaving the Ferguson parking lot which the City 

may be able to coordinate with the College to save funds on the cost of 
the asphalt 
 

The consensus of the Council and Planning Commission is to maintain the 
current draft and add the following items: 
 
Start Year Project # Project Title 

2017 River Trail Part I R-002 
2017 Parking Lots S-030 
2018 Amtrak Platform Repair S-032 
2018 Fiber Optic S-033 
2019 Sidewalk Surrounding 

School 
S-034 
SR25 

2021 Dam Removal/Repair S-031 
 



Page 6 of 6                       jdomingo/joint study session planning/council minutes 3-14-17 
 

**** 2017 Research needed for: 
 
Replace/Restore N. Albion St. Bridge  S-003 
Roof Replacement                      S-016; S-012; S-013; S-022 
 
****Also add additional information on cover sheet. 
 
 

City Manager Mitchell stated the Public Hearing for the Capital Improvement Plan 
will be: 

 
Planning Commission -Tuesday, March 21, 2017 at 7:00 p.m.  City Hall, 2nd Floor 
Council Chambers 

 
Council -Monday, April 3, 2017 at 7:00 p.m. City Hall, 2nd Floor Council 
Chambers 

 
Comments were received from Council Members Brown, French, Spicer and 
Reid; Mayor Brown; Commissioners Strander; Kipp; Decker and Strand; City 
Manager Mitchell; Assistant City Manager Levin; Public Services Director 
Lenardson and Special Projects Manager Nelson.  

V. Public Comments (Persons addressing the Planning Commission shall limit their 
comments to no more than three (3) minutes. (Proper decorum is required). 

 No comments were received. 

VI. Adjournment 
 
No adjournment necessary due to a lack of a quorum to call the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

Recorded By:  Jill Domingo, City Clerk 



Notice of public hearing before the Albion Planning 
Commission to request approval of application submitted 

for Community Gardens in residential districts. 
 

Tuesday, March 21 2017 at 7:00 P.M. 
City Hall – Council Chambers on Upper Level 

112 W. Cass Street, Albion, Michigan 49224 
 

Please take notice: The City of Albion Planning Commission will meet as noticed above 
to review and consider approval of application for Community Gardens as required under  
City of Albion Zoning Ordinance #2011-01, Sec. 30-500. Definition; Sec. 30-501. General 
Provisions, Community Gardens. 

 
Applicant: Vision of Life Action Team  
Case # 2017-007: Community Garden proposed to be located at:  
1021 Jefferson St, Parcel # 13-51-010-574-00 
1019 Jefferson St, Parcel # 13-51-010-575-00 
1017 Jefferson St, Parcel # 13-51-010-576-00 
1013 Jefferson St, Parcel # 13-51-010-579-00 
1011 Jefferson St, Parcel # 13-51-010-580-00 
1009 Jefferson St, Parcel # 13-51-010-581-00 
Property of Record: Calhoun County Land Bank Authority Leased to Vision of Life Action Team 
Mallory/Jefferson St, Parcel # 13-51-001-942-00 
1013.5 Jefferson St, Parcel # 13-51-010-578-00 
751 W. Broadwell St, Parcel # 13-51-001-943-00 
Applicant request: approval for proposed Community Garden as submitted. 
Property owner of record: Vision of Life Action Team.  

 
 
To comply with the American Disabilities Act. (ADA), any citizen requiring accommodations to attend 
this meeting/function, and or obtain this notice in alternative formats, please contact the City Manager’s 
office at (517) 629-5535 at least five (5) business days prior to the meeting/function. Copies of 
information on the proposed community gardens are available in the City Manager’s office Monday-
Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.… Written comments or suggestions regarding this matter are also 
welcome and should be directed to the City Clerk’s office at City Hall, by no later than 5:00 P.M., on 
March 21, 2017.  
 



City of Albion 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON THE PROPOSED 

2017-2022 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 

City of Albion Planning Commission will conduct a public hearing at their regularly scheduled 
meeting on March 21, 2017 at 7:00 p.m. at City of Albion, City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers, 
112 W. Cass Street, Albion, MI  49224 for the proposed 2017-2022 City of Albion Capital 
Improvement Plan.  
 
Copies of the project proposal are available for inspection by the public during regular business 
hours (8:00 am to 5:00 pm, Monday through Friday) in the City Clerk’s office, 112 West Cass 
Street, Albion, Michigan and online at www.cityofalbionmi.gov. 
 
City of Albion 
Jill Domingo, City Clerk 
517-629-7864 

http://www.cityofalbionmi.gov/






















































A RESOLUTION RECOMMENDING APPROVAL OF THE 
CITY OF ALBION 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 2017-2022 
TO THE 

ALBION CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
WHEREAS, the Michigan Planning Enabling Act, MCL 125.3801 et. Seq. (“MPEA”) authorizes the Planning 
Commission to prepare a Capital Improvement Plan to show public structures and improvements in the 
general order of their priority, that in the Planning Commission’s judgment will be needed or desirable 
and can be undertaken within the ensuring 6-year period; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Albion issued Notice of Public Comment on the Recommendation of the Six Year 
(2017-2022) Capital Improvement Plan; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Albion Planning Commission hereby: 
 

1. Adopts the 2017 - 2022 Capital Improvement Plan. The City of Albion Planning Commission 
hereby approves and adopts the proposed Capital Improvement Plan, including all of the text, 
figures, charts, graphs, and other descriptive materials contained therein. 
 

2. Distribution to the City Council. The Planning Commission hereby approves distribution of the 
proposed new Capital Improvement Plan to the City Council. The Planning Commission 
respectfully recommends to the City Council that the City Council give final approval to the 
proposed new Capital Improvement Plan. 
 

3. Finding of Fact. The Planning Commission has made the foregoing determination based on a 
review of the existing Capital Improvement Plan provisions, input from public, as well as, elected 
and appointed officials, through community surveys, forums, and at the public hearing. The 
Planning Commission also finds that the new Capital Improvement Plan will accurately reflect and 
implement the City’s vision, goals and objectives. 
 

4. Effective Date. The new Capital Improvement Plan – Phase 1 will become effective on the date it 
is approved by the City Council. 
 
 

Motion by Planning Commission Member _________________ and supported by Planning Commission 
Member _____________________ to approve the foregoing resolution. 
 
AYES _____ 
 
NAYS _____ 
 
ABSENT _____ 
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED 
 
 
 
 



CERTIFICATION 
 
I hereby certify that the above resolution was adopted on March 21, 2017, at a regular meeting of the 
Albion Planning Commission, and this is a true copy of that resolution. 
 
 
____________________________________   March 21, 2017 
Jill Domingo, Clerk 



Capital Improvements Plan 

FY 2017-2022 

Adopted by Albion City Council: 

[DATE] 

 

Recommended by Albion Planning 

Commission 

[DATE] 

 



This Page has been intentionally left blank 



ADD TABLE OF CONTENTS HERE 



SUMMARY 

A Capital Improvements Plan (CIP) is a multi-year planning instrument used to identify needs and financing 

sources for public infrastructure improvements. The purpose of a CIP is to facilitate the orderly planning of 

infrastructure improvements; to maintain, preserve, and protect the community of Albion’s existing 

infrastructure system; and to provide for the acquisition or scheduled replacement of equipment to ensure the 

efficient delivery of services to the community. The ClP is also utilized to ensure that capital improvements are 

fiscally sound and consistent with the goals and policies of the governing body and the residents of the 

community. 

A comprehensive Capital Improvements Plan is an essential tool for the planning and development of the 

social, physical, and economic wellbeing of the community. This process is a necessary step in an organized 

effort to strengthen the quality of public facilities and services; provide a framework for the realization of 

community goals and objectives; and provide a sound basis on which to build a healthy and vibrant 

community. 

The CIP informs Albion residents and stakeholders on how the municipality plans to address significant capital 

needs over the next six years. The CIP outlines the community's needs including  details on the timing, 

sequence, and location of capital projects. The ClP can also influence growth because infrastructure can 

impact development patterns. 

 

Some of the many benefits that the CIP provides for the residents and stakeholders include: 

 Optimize the uses of revenue 

 Focus attention on community goals, needs, and capabilities 

 Guide future growth and development 

 Encourage efficient government 

 Improve intergovernmental  and regional cooperation 

 Help maintain a sound and stable financial program 

 Enhance opportunities for the participation in federal and/or state grant programs 

 Assisting in stabilization of tax levies over a period of years 

 

The projects identified in the CJP represent the community’s plan to serve residents and anticipate the needs 

of a dynamic community. Projects are guided by various development plans and policies established by the 

Albion Planning Commission, City Council, and administration . 

Plans and policies include: Comprehensive Plan, Recreation Master Plan, Economic Development Plan, 

Downtown Development Plan, Goals and Objectives of Council, administrative policies, Non-Motorized 

Transportation Plan 

 

 

 



Mission statement 

Preparation of the CIP is done under the authority of the Michigan Planning Enabling Act (PA 33 of 2008). The 

goal of the CIP should be to implement the Comprehensive Plan and to assist in the community's financial 

planning. 

The act states, “The Capital improvements program shall show those public structures and improvements in 

the general order of their priority, that in the (planning) commission’s judgment will be needed or desirable 

and can be undertaken within the ensuring 6-year period.”  

The CIP is dynamic. Each year all projects included within the CIP are reviewed, a call for new projects is 

made, and adjustments are made lo existing projects arising from changes in the amount of funding required, 

conditions, or time line. A new year of programming is also added each year to replace the year funded in 

the annual operating budget. 

The CIP program should continue to develop over time by adding features to gradually improve quality and 

sophistication. Greater attention shall be devoted to provide more detailed information about individual 

project requests, program planning, fiscal analysis, fiscal policies, and developing debt strategy. 

The following flowchart provides a general outline of the process that the City of Albion is following: 



CIP and the Budget Process 

The CIP plays a significant role in the implementation of a Comprehensive Plan by providing the link between 

planning and budgeting for capital projects. The CIP process precedes the budget process and is used to 

develop the capital project portion of the annual budget. Approval of the CIP by the Planning Commission 

does not mean that they grant final approval of all projects contained within the plan. Rather by approving 

the CIP, the planning commission acknowledges that these projects represent a reasonable interpretation of 

the upcoming needs for the community and that projects contained in the first year of the plan are suitable 

for inclusion in the upcoming budget. 

Priority rankings do not necessarily correspond to funding sequence. For example, a road-widening project 

which is ranked lower than a park project may be funded before the park project because the road project 

has access to a restricted revenue source, whereas a park project may have to compete for funding from 

other revenue sources. A project's funding depends upon a number of factors—not only its merit, but also its 

location, cost, funding source, and logistics. 

The community of Albion should strive to maximize resources by maintaining a balance between operating 

and capital budgets. A continuous relationship exists between the CIP and the annual budget. A direct link 

can be seen between the two documents, as there should be in a strategic planning environment. 

Budget appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year as the operating budget is funded with recurring 

annual revenues such as taxes, licenses, fines, user fees, and interest income. 

Process 

Capital Improvements Plan Policy Group: reviews the policy, develops the project ranking and weighting 

criteria, rates and weights project applications, reviews funding options, and presents the recommendation to 

the Administrative Group. The following were invited to be part of the Policy Group: 

 Planning Commission  Representative (2) 

 Mayor 

 City Council Representative  

 City Manager 

 Assistant City Manager 

 Director of Planning, Building, and Code Enforcement  

 Recreation  Director 

 Director of Public Services  

 Director of Finance 

 Chief of Public Safety 

A wide range and variety of capital improvements are included in the CIP. Listed below are several criteria to 

aid in the review of potential projects: 

 Required to fill any federal or state judicial administrative requirements 

 Relationship to source and availability of funds 

 Impact on annual operating and maintenance costs 

 Relationship to overall fiscal policy and capabilities 

 Project’s readiness for implementation 

 Relationship to overall community needs 

 Relationship to other projects 

 Distribution of projects throughout the community 



2017 – 2021 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT NEEDS ASSESSMENT FORM 

Project Name: Project #: 

Department: Total Score: 

Rater Name: 
Score 
range 

Rater 
score 

Weight 
Total 

points 

1. Contributes to health, safety, and welfare 

 Eliminates a known hazard (accident history) 5 

  5   

 Eliminates a potential hazard 4 

 Materially contributes 3 

 Minimally contributes 1 

 No impact 0 

2. Project needed to comply with local, state, or federal law 

 Yes 5 
  5   

 No 0 

3. Project conforms to adopted program, policy, or plan 

 Project is consistent with adopted city council policy or plan 5 

  4    Project is consistent with administrative policy 3 

 No policy/plan in place 0 

4. Project remediates an existing or projected deficiency 

 Completely remedies problem 5 

  3    Partially remedies problem 3 

 No 0 

5. Will project upgrade facilities? 

 Rehabilitates/upgrades existing facility 5 

  3   
 Replaces existing facility 3 

 New facility 1 

 No 0 

6. Contributes to long-term needs of community 

 More than 30 years 5 

  3   

 21 – 30 years 4 

 11 – 20 years 3 

 4 – 10 years 2 

 3 years or less 1 

7. Service area of project 

 Regional 5 

  2   
 City-wide 4 

 Several neighborhoods 3 

 One neighborhood or less 1 

8. Department priority 

 High 5 

  3    Medium 3 

 Low 1 

9. Project delivers level of service desired by community 

 High 5 

  2    Medium 3 

 Low 1 



These factors are all relevant and must be considered in order to ensure that the best quality of service is 

delivered to our residents in the most fiscally prudent manner. Most importantly, the proposed list of capital 

projects has to reflect the overall goals and vision of the community’s adopted Comprehensive Plan. 

Administrative Group: clarifies any issues, finalizes the ratings and brings the CIP draft forward at the Planning 

Commission and City Council Joint Study Session and presents the CIP at the Planning Commission public 

hearing. 

 City Manager 

 Department Heads 

Planning Commission: works with the Policy Group during the plan development, conducts workshops (if 

necessary), reviews the Policy Group's recommendation, receives public input, conducts public hearings, 

adopts the plan, and requests the governing body to consider incorporating funding for the first year projects 

into the budget plan. 

Governing body: adopts the plan, encouraged to use the CIP as a tool in the adoption of the annual budget 

process in accordance with the governing body goals and objectives. 

Residents: encouraged to participate in plan development by working with various boards and commissions 

at the Planning Commission workshops, the Planning Commission public hearings, and al the governing body's 

budget workshops and public hearings. As always, communication is open between residents, governing 

body representatives, Planning Commission representatives, and staff. 

 

As used in the community of Albion Capital Improvements Program, a capital improvements project is defined 

as a major, nonrecurring expenditure that includes one or more of the following: 

1. Any construction of a new facility (i.e. a public building, water/sanitary sewer mains, storm sewers, major/

local roadways, recreational facilities), an addition to or extension of such a facility, provided that the cost 

is $10,000 or more and that the improvement will have a useful life of three years or more. 

2. Any nonrecurring rehabilitation of all or part of a building, its grounds, a facility, or equipment, provided 

that the cost is $10,000 or more and the improvement will have a useful life of three years or more. 

3. Any purchase or replacement of major equipment to support community programs provided that the cost 

is $10,000 or more and will be coded to a capital asset account. 

4. Any planning, feasibility, engineering, or design study related to an individual capital improvements 

project or to a program that is implemented through individual capital improvements projects provided 

that the cost is $10,000 or more and will have a useful life of three years or more. 

5. Any planning, feasibility, engineering, or design study costing $25,000 or more that is not part of an 

individual capital improvements project or a program that is implemented through individual capital 

improvements projects. 

6. Any acquisition of land for a public purpose that is not part of an individual capital improvements project 

or a program that is implemented through individual capital improvements projects provided that the cost 

is $25,000 or more. 

 



Codes and Abbreviations 

A51  Act 51 Funding 

AC  Albion College 

AFFG  Assistance to Fire Fighters Grant 

BCCF  Battle Creek Community Foundation 

BI  Bond Issue 

CF  Category F Funds 

CPF  Capital Project Fund 

CTF  Cemetery Trust Fund 

EB  Enbridge 

EPFB  Equipment Pool Fund Balance 

FB  Fund Balance 

FKLRSB  FireKeepers Local Revenue Sharing Board 

G  Grant (unspecified) 

GF  General Fund 

ICE  Infrastructure Capacity Enhancement Grant 

LL  Local Loan 

LMF  Local Millage Fund 

LSM  Local Street Millage 

MDNR NRTF Michigan Department of Natural Resources—Natural Resources Trust Fund 

OR  Operating Revenues 

SDWRF  State Drinking Water Revolving Fund 

TBD  To Be Determined 

USDA-RD United States Department of Agriculture-Rural Development Grant/Loan 

 



 

CITY OF ALBION 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN—EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2017 Fiscal Year 

Project Cost Funding Source 

Water Main Replacement $5,316,725 BI, SDWRF, FB, USDA-RD 

Parking Lots—Downtown $1,200,000 USDA-RD 

Street Restoration/Replacement $209,000 A51, LMF 

Albion River Trail Expansion I $398,000 MDNR NRTF, Enbridge, AC 

Hot Patcher $80,000 USDA-RD, LL, EPFB, OR 

2018 Fiscal Year 

Project Cost Funding Source 

Waste Water Influent Screen $800,000 USDA-RD, LL, BI, OR 

Digester Building & Equipment Rehabilitation $1,800,000 USDA-RD, BI, OR 

Irwin Ave. Construction Project $2,230,000 ICE, CF, LSM 

2018 Street Restoration/Replacement $200,000 Act 51, Local Street Millage Funds 

Replace/Restore N. Albion St. Bridge TBD TBD 

WWTP Multiple Roof Replacements $120,000 USDA-RD, OR, BI 

Roof Replacement at Water Treatment Facility $30,000 WFB 

Amtrak Platform $300,000 Amtrak, MDOT 

Street Dept. Roof Replacement TBD TBD 

Vactor Truck Purchase $350,000 USDA-RD, LL, EPFB, OR 

City Hall Rehab $1,900,000 TBD 

Repair Seawall along Kalamazoo River TBD TBD 

Replace Roof—Cemetery Office $20,000 CTF, FB 

Front-end Loader $250,000 USDA-RD, LL, EPFB, OR 

Street Sweeper $275,000 USDA-RD, LL, EPFB 

Fiber Optic TBD TBD 

Purchase Asphalt Repair Truck $147,000 USDA-RD, LL, EPFB, FB 

K-9 Police Cars $80,000 OR 



2020 Fiscal Year 

Project Cost Funding Source 

Sludge Holding Tanks $160,000 USDA-RD, SDWRF, BI, OR, FB 

2020 Street Restoration/Replacement $200,000 Act 51 Funds, Local Street Millage 

Ferric Feed System Replacement $270,000 USDA-RD, SDWRF, BI 

WWTP—Multiple Roof Replacements-Pump& Filter Bldg $200,000 BI, FB 

SCBA Pack Replacement $90,000 AFFG, OR 

Rieger Park Staking Shelter TBD TBD 

Purchase Used Bucket Truck $40,000 TBD 

2021 Fiscal Year 

Project Cost Funding Source 

2021 Street Restoration/Replacement $200,000 Act 51 Funds, Local Street MIllage 

Dam & Mill Race Removal (Repair) TBD DEQ, MDNRT 

Fire Engine $500,000 GGF, AFFG, CPF 

2022 Fiscal Year 

Project Cost Funding Source 

2022 Street Restoration/Replacement $200,000 Act 51 Funds, Local Street MIllage 

2019 Fiscal Year 

Project Cost Funding Source 

Secondary Clarifier $800,000 USDA-RD, BI, OR 

Gravity Thickener $340,000 USDA-RD. SDWRF, OR, BI 

2019 Street Restoration/Replacement $200,000 Act 51 Funds, Local Street MIllage 

Filter Building and Equipment Repairs $640,000 USDA-RD, OR, BI 

WWTP Secondary Building Rehab $1,550,000 USDA-RD, OR, FB 

Staking Pavilion—Victory Park TBD TBD 

Replace Dump Truck $250,000 USDA-RD. LL, FB 

Backhoe Replacement $250,000 USDA-RD, LL, EPFB, FB, OR 

Motorola AX8000 Radios $160,000 AFFG, OR 

Albion River Trail Expansion II $340,000 MDNR NRTF, BCCF, EB, FKLRSB, A51, PD 

Safe Walks to Schools—Sidewalk Program TBD State Funding, Federal Funding 



FY 2017 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 

 



City of  Albion Capital Improvement Plan 

[YEAR] Budget Year 

Individual Project Description 

Project Title  

 

Department/Fund  Funding Source  

FY 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Est. Cost       

Project Description and Location 

 

Project History and Plans 

 

Project Need and Impact 

 

Related Costs and Future Funding Needs 

 



City of  Albion Capital Improvement Plan 

2017 Budget Year 

Individual Project Description 

Project Title Albion River Trail Expansion I 

 

Department Recreation Funding Source MDNR NRTF, AC, EB 

FY 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Est. Cost $398,000      

Project Description and Location 

The Albion River Trail Expansion I is a multi-use ADA-accessible trail that extends the existing Albion River Trail 

from Victory Park south through Albion College property to the south end of Riverside Cemetery. The project 

will connect the Albion River Trail to the North Country National Scenic Trail, the Great Lake-to-Lake Trail, and 

the Iron Belle Trail. The project includes updates to the parking lot at Victory Park next to the basketball courts.  

Project History and Plans 

The project is a collaboration with Albion College and the Calhoun County Trailway Alliance. The project is 

intended to improve recreational opportunities in the City and be used for attracting tourists, hikers, and bikers 

to the area. The trail will be ADA accessible and is intended for multi-use. 

Project Need and Impact 

The project will meet the goals outlined in the Recreation Master Plan and the Comprehensive Plan to expand 

the City’s trail network and to work towards the “trail town” designation. The project will help to improve the 

health and recreational opportunities as well as tourist opportunities in the City.  

Related Costs and Future Funding Needs 

The City can work with the Calhoun County Trailway Alliance and Albion College to determine maintenance 

needs. 


	1   03212017 AGENDA Planning Commission.pdf
	2   2-22-17 Planning Commission Minutes.pdf
	3    3-14-17 Planning Commission Joint Study Session with Council Minutes.pdf
	4   Public Notice-Community Garden for Albion Planning A.pdf
	5    Capital Improvement Plan Public Hearing Notice Draft.pdf
	6   Planning Commission Case 2017-007-03162017093554.pdf
	7  Planning Commission Resolution -  Capital Improvement Plan.pdf
	8  CIP Master Doc updated 3-17 original PDF.pdf

